1997

Michael Loy Hansen v. Laura T. Hansen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(h) (1996).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED:

1. Preponderance of the evidence as the correct standard:

Whether the general standard of proof required in civil actions, proof by a preponderance of the evidence, is the correct standard to establish the existence of a common law marriage pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5 (1995)?

Issue Preservation and Standard of Review. This issue was preserved in the trial court in Mr. Hansen's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Record at 325. The trial court's conclusions of law should not be provided any particular deference and should be reviewed for correctness. The Court of Appeals is free to render its own independent interpretations of legislative intent and statutory applications on matters of law. Steele v. Breinholt, 747 P.2d 433, 434-35 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

2. Violation of the Utah Constitution: Whether a statute, Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5(2) (1995), which requires a determination of a common law marriage within one year of the

termination of the relationship violates Article 1, Sections 7, 11, and 24 of the Utah Constitution?

Issue Preservation and Standard of Review. This issue was preserved in the trial court in Mr. Hansen's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. Record at 321. The trial court's conclusions of law should not be provided any particular deference and should be reviewed for correctness. The Court of Appeals is free to render its own independent interpretations of legislative intent and statutory applications on matters of law. Steele v. Breinholt, 747 P.2d 433, 434-35 (Utah Ct. App. 1987).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES DETERMINATIVE ON APPEAL

Section 30-1-4.5, Utah Code Ann. (1995) is determinative on appeal and is set forth in the Addendum to this brief. Articles 7, 11, and 24 of the Utah Constitution are also determinative on appeal and are set forth in the Addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from an order signed and dated the 8th of May, 1997. Record at 350.

Course of Proceeding and Disposition Below

Mr. Hansen filed a complaint on October 12, 1995. Mr.

Hansen's cause of action was for a determination of a common law marriage between Michael Hansen and Laura Hansen. The court dismissed Mr. Hansen's Complaint December 20, 1996. The court ruled that the burden of proof for a determination of the existence of a common law marriage is clear and convincing evidence and that Mr. Hansen had not met this standard. Mr. Hansen moved on the 18th of February to alter or amend the court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. The district court denied the Motion to Amend, concluding that the correct burden of proof is proof by clear and convincing evidence. Mr. Hansen appeals the district court's order.

Statement of Facts

1. The parties were previously married for a period of approximately nine years. Their divorce was final in March 1994. Record at 246-247.

2. In October 1994, Mr. Hansen moved back into the marital home with Mrs. Hansen and resided there with her and their children until at least May 1995. Record at 246.

3. From May 1995 through September 22, 1995, Mr. Hansen did not live at the marital home nor cohabit with her. Record at 246.

4. Judge Hansen previously made a finding in a protective order action between the parties that Mr. Hansen lived in the marital home again from September 22, 1995, through December 27, 1995 at the request of Mrs. Hansen. Record at 246.

5. During the periods of cohabitation Mr. Hansen routinely turned over his paycheck to Mrs. Hansen and then received back some cash as "walking around money." Record at 246.

6. During the periods of cohabitation Mrs. Hansen worked and pooled her money with the money that she received from Mr. Hansen. Record at 246.

7. Mrs. Hansen used the money she and Mr. Hansen earned to pay a credit card debt Mr. Hansen had incurred during the period of separation preceding their divorce. She also used this pooled money to pay the home mortgage, to pay family living expenses and obligations and to pay her own debts. Record at 246.

8. During the period of cohabitation the parties acted much like a family. Record at 246.

9. When the parties' son was of age to be baptized into the L.D.S. church, the parties met with the local Bishop to arrange for the son's baptism. Neither party dispelled the appearance that they were a family. Record at 246.

10. After Mr. Hansen moved back in with Mrs. Hansen, a membership clerk from the L.D.S. church came to inquire concerning Mr. Hansen's church membership records and was told that Mr. Hansen lived in the marital home. The appearance was that they were back together. Record at 245-46.

11. Mrs. Hansen used Mr. Hansen's medical and dental insurance to cover the cost of some of her medical treatments. The coverage was only available to her as a wife and she claimed

the benefit of this coverage. Record at 245.

12. During the time the parties cohabited Mrs. Hansen held herself out as Mr. Hansen's wife to the insurance carrier. Record at 245.

13. During the period of cohabitation Mrs. Hansen frequently wore a ring on the finger of her left hand, traditionally viewed as her marriage finger. Record at 245.

14. During the time the parties cohabited each was capable of giving consent to a marriage and each was legally capable of entering into a solemnized marriage. Record at 245.

15. During the time the parties cohabited they each assumed marital rights, duties, and obligations. Record at 245.

16. Mr. Hansen filed the Complaint of this matter, on or about the 12th of October, 1995, requesting a determination of the existence of a common law marriage between the parties. The Complaint was filed within one year of the termination of the Hansen's relationship. Record at 4.

17. On the 20th of December, 1996, also within one year of the termination of the relationship, the court dismissed the Complaint for determination of a common law marriage. The court found that Mr. Hansen had failed to prove by "clear and convincing" evidence either that Mrs. Hansen consented to a marital relationship or that the parties acquired a general reputation as husband and wife. Record at 247.

18. On the 18th of February, 1997, Mr. Hansen made a Motion

to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.
Record at 316.

19. In an Order signed the 8th of May, 1997, the court denied Mr. Hansen's Motion to Amend. The court concluded as a matter of law that the standard of proof for the existence of a common law marriage is by clear and convincing evidence. Record at 350.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The correct burden of proof to determine the existence of a common law marriage is proof by a preponderance of the evidence. Proof by a preponderance of the evidence is the general burden of proof in civil matters. This burden has been adopted by a majority of Utah's sister states that recognize common law marriage. Public policy favors proof by a preponderance of the evidence for determining the existence of a common law marriage.

The Utah statute authorizing common law marriage is unconstitutional under Article 1, Sections 7, 11, and 24 of the Utah Constitution. The statute requires that the establishment of such a marriage be made within one year of the termination of the relationship. If the district court were to be reversed, the statute would deprive Mr. Hansen of due process, uniform operation of the laws, and his right to open courts because his rights would be extinguished by the one-year statute of limitations.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

The statute in question in this case is Section 30-1-4.5, Utah Code Annotated (1995). This section provides:

- (1) A marriage which is not solemnized according to this chapter shall be legal if a court or administrative order establishes that it arises out of a contract between two consenting parties who:
 - (a) are capable of giving consent;
 - (b) are legally capable of entering a solemnized marriage under the provision of this chapter;
 - (c) have cohabited;
 - (d) mutually assume marital rights, duties, and obligations; and
 - (e) who hold themselves out as and have acquired a uniform and general reputation as husband and wife.
- (2) The determination or establishment of a marriage under this section must occur during the relationship described in Subsection (1), or within one year following the termination of that relationship. Evidence of a marriage recognizable under this section may be manifested in any form, and may be proved under the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases.

Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5 (1995) (emphasis added).

If a court finds that a marriage arose out of a contract between two consenting parties who meet the above requirements, then in the eyes of the law, they are married.

The following arguments address the findings and conclusions reached by the district court in the present case. The arguments

point out why the court incorrectly found the burden of proof for determining the existence of a common law marriage to be clear and convincing evidence, and why the statute authorizing common law marriage violates the Utah Constitution.

POINT I.

PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE AS THE CORRECT STANDARD: THE GENERAL STANDARD OF PROOF REQUIRED IN CIVIL ACTIONS, PROOF BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE, IS THE CORRECT STANDARD TO ESTABLISH THE EXISTENCE OF A COMMON LAW MARRIAGE.

A. The general standard of proof in civil actions is proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

The district court concluded that the correct burden of proof for determining the existence of a common law marriage is proof by clear and convincing evidence. Record at 350.

Although the language in Section 30-1-4.5(2) does not articulate the exact standard of proof required, it does require evidence be proved under "the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases." According to the Utah Supreme Court, the general rules of evidence in Utah civil cases dictate that evidence be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. In Johns v. Shulsen, the Supreme Court explained, "[i]t is universally recognized that the standard of proof required in civil actions is by a preponderance of the evidence." 717 P.2d 1336, 1338 (Utah 1986) (citing Morris v. Farmer's Home Ins. Co., 500 P.2d 505 (Utah 1972)).

While Utah Appellate courts have yet to specifically interpret the meaning of Section 30-1-4.5 to apply a preponderance of the evidence standard, the Montana Supreme Court has referred to a similar Montana statute when determining that such common law marriages are to be proven by a preponderance of the evidence.¹ In Miller v. Townsend Lumber Co., 448 P.2d 148 (Mont. 1968), the Montana Supreme Court referred to the Montana state common law marriage statute containing similar language to Utah's Section 30-1-4.5(2), saying that evidence of such a marriage "may be manifested in any form, and may be proved under the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases." Id. at 151. After referring to this language, which is almost identical to the language found in Utah's statute, the Montana Supreme Court went on to apply a preponderance of the evidence standard of proof to determine the existence of a common law marriage. Id. at 152.

Based on the language of Section 30-1-4.5(2) requiring the use of the same general rules of evidence as in other cases, and based on the standard of proof required in Utah civil actions, the Court should have applied the preponderance of the evidence

¹ The Utah statute reads: "Evidence of a marriage recognizable under this section may be manifested in any form, and may be proved under the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases." Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-4.5(2) (1995). The Montana statute reads: "Consent to and consummation of marriage may be manifested in any form, and may be proved under the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases. Cited in Miller v. Townsend Lumber Co., 448 P.2d 148, 151 (Mont. 1968).

standard.

B. A majority of sister states which recognize common law marriage require proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

While Utah's own statutes and cases have already outlined the appropriate burden of proof, the district court in the instant case relied on a survey of the law of sister states to determine the burden of proof necessary to establish a valid common law marriage. The district court's survey, however, was flawed.

The district court found fourteen jurisdictions which have adopted a clear and convincing standard and nine jurisdictions which have adopted a preponderance of the evidence standard. Record at 241. However, there are only fifteen jurisdictions, including Utah, which recognize common law marriage, and only six of these states, including Utah, recognize common law marriage by statute.² In its survey, the district court cited court decisions in states which have either abolished common law

² Six states have statutes recognizing common law marriage, Montana, Texas, South Carolina, Idaho, Georgia and Utah. See MONT. CODE ANN. § 40-1-403 (1995); TEX. FAM. CODE ANN. § 1.91 (Vernon, 1995); S.C. CODE ANN. § 20-1-360 (1996); IDAHO CODE § 32-201 (1996) (recognizing marriages contracted before January 1, 1996); GA. CODE ANN. § 19-3-1.1 (1996) (recognizing marriages contracted before January 1, 1997); UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-1-4.5 (1995). Ten other jurisdictions judicially recognize common law marriage as part of the state's general common law. See Record at 241 (citing cases for Alabama, Oklahoma, Colorado, Iowa, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, District of Columbia, and South Dakota); Driscoll v. Driscoll, 552 P.2d 629, 632 (Kan. 1976) (applying Kansas law).

marriage and the courts were applying former rules or courts which were applying the law of other states.

If a survey of other states is the proper method of determining the appropriate burden of proof, states with common law marriage statutes similar to Utah's statute ought to be the proper states to survey. Of the five other states which recognize common law marriages by statute, Montana, Texas, South Carolina, Idaho, and Georgia, all use a preponderance standard. Of the other nine jurisdictions which recognize common law marriage judicially, five (Alabama, Rhode Island, Pennsylvania, Oklahoma, South Dakota) use a clear and convincing standard.

The other five states, which like Utah, recognize common law marriages by statute are unanimous in applying a preponderance of the evidence standard. Looking to all fifteen states which recognize common law marriage either judicially or by statute, only five apply a clear and convincing standard. The weight of authority from sister states which recognize common law marriages is that the appropriate burden of proof is proof by a preponderance of the evidence.

C. Public policy favors establishing a common law marriage using the preponderance of the evidence standard.

In concluding as a matter of law that public policy favored the establishment of common law marriages by clear and convincing evidence, the district court compared common law marriage to

other civil judicial proceedings. The court stated that while most civil claims need only be proved by a preponderance, there are some exceptions:

[T]he clear and convincing standard has been applied in the following types of civil proceedings, among others: civil commitment; termination of parental rights; civil contempt; denaturalization, and deportation. A common element in these civil proceedings is the presence of contested individual interest deemed worthy of extra protection.

Record at 238(citations omitted).

In comparing common law marriage to the judicial proceedings it listed, the district court found a common element of a "contested individual interest deemed worthy of extra protection," which justified a higher burden of proof. However, the proceedings that the district court compared common law marriage to are clearly distinguishable.

The first civil proceeding to which the court compared common law marriage, civil commitment, demands the clear and convincing standard only because it is written into the statute. See Utah Code Ann. § 62A-12-234(10)(1997) ("The court shall order commitment of an individual...if...the court finds by clear and convincing evidence that....").

Likewise, the termination of parental rights is governed by a statute defining the burden of proof as clear and convincing evidence. See Utah Code Ann. § 78-3a-406(3) (1996) ("The court shall in all cases require the petitioner to establish the facts by clear and convincing evidence..."). Because the standard is

written into the statutes, these proceedings are not comparable to the common law marriage statute, which states that the requisite burden of proof required is "the same general rules of evidence as facts in other cases."

Civil contempt, another proceeding cited by the district court as comparable to common law marriage, is distinguishable because it is considered "quasi-criminal," thus requiring a higher standard than a standard civil proceeding. Powers v. Taylor, 378 P.2d 519, 520 (Utah 1963).

The other civil proceedings cited by the court, denaturalization and deportation, are also distinguishable from common law marriage. In both cases, the standard of proof has been set down by the United States Supreme Court.

Denaturalization has demanded a higher standard because a certificate of citizenship is "an instrument granting political privileges" which should "not be lightly revoked" especially when "the rights are conferred by solemn adjudication, as is the situation when citizenship is granted." Scheiderman v. United States, 320 U.S. 118, 125 (1942). To revoke citizenship is to rescind rights conferred by "solemn adjudication." Common law marriage, however, does not require a court to rescind "political privileges" previously conferred by a court. Common law marriage is merely the judicial recognition of a previous relationship. There are no "political privileges" involved, nor is there a recision of judicially conferred rights.

Likewise, deportation is also distinguishable from common law marriage. The United States Supreme Court has required a higher burden of proof in deportation matters because "[t]he immediate hardship of deportation is often greater than that inflicted by denaturalization, which does not, immediately at least, result in expulsion from our shores." Woodby v. Immigration Service 385 U.S. 276, 286 (1966). Deportation forces the defendant to "forsake all the bonds formed here and go to a foreign land." Id. at 285. The finding of a common law marriage does not inflict the hardship envisioned by the Supreme Court when it required the clear and convincing standard for deportation. There, the heightened protection is warranted because of the heightened danger and hardships that can result from such proceedings. When that heightened danger is lacking, such as the case with common law marriage, public policy does not demand a higher standard of proof than the general standard of proof required in other civil matters.

Because the standard of proof required in the proceedings cited by the district court are either defined by statute, by the United States Supreme Court, or seen by the courts as "quasi-criminal" in nature, the proceedings cited by the district court are incorrect comparisons to common law marriage. Public policy does not require a higher standard of proof than the preponderance standard that governs other civil cases.

The Hansens were once formally married. They then divorced,

but subsequently returned to living together. A Wyoming case, Jim's Water Service v. Eayrs, 590 P.2d 1346 (Wyo. 1979), is helpful because it is factually similar. In that case the Wyoming Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether an employer could deny worker's compensation benefits to a common law spouse under Montana law. As in the present case, the husband and wife had divorced and then later resumed living together. They did not formally remarry. Montana had a statute recognizing common law marriage similar to Utah's statute. In its opinion, the Wyoming Court stated that the burden necessary to prove the elements of a valid Montana common law marriage is by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 1350. In so ruling, the court relied in part on the public policy of "a strong presumption in favor of the legality of a common-law marriage." Id. This presumption and burden should apply in this case.

Some courts, even in states disfavoring common law marriage, have relaxed the burden of proof required to prove the existence of a common law marriage when couples, like the Hansens, divorce and then later resume living together. The Colorado Supreme Court stated that "[i]n such a case we think that the law's role of mere toleration of the common law relationship should be reversed and the status of remarriage favored, even if acquired with common law informality." In re Peterson's Estate, 365 P.2d 254, 256 (Colo. 1961). The Colorado Court later affirmed this ruling saying that it "holds that the evidence in such cases may

be less than the positive and convincing proof necessary to establish a common law marriage." Ward v. Terriere, 386 P.2d 352, 355 (Colo. 1963).

While it may be argued that common law marriage is disfavored in some states, in Utah the Legislature chose to recognize common law marriages in 1987. This recent recognition of common law marriages evidenced a shift in the light by which such marriages are to be seen.

The language of the statute points the courts to the proper burden of proof required to show the existence of a common law marriage. Proof by a preponderance of the evidence is the general burden of proof in civil matters and has been adopted by a majority of Utah's sister states that recognize common law marriage.

POINT II.

VIOLATION OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION: UTAH CODE 1953 SECTION 30-1-4.5(2), WHICH REQUIRES A DETERMINATION OF A COMMON LAW WITHIN ONE YEAR OF THE TERMINATION OF THE RELATIONSHIP VIOLATES ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 7, 11, AND 24 OF THE UTAH CONSTITUTION.

A. Section 30-1-4.5(2) violates the due process clause of Article 1, section 7 of the Utah Constitution.

Section 30-1-4.5(2) provides "[t]he determination or establishment of a marriage under this section must occur during the relationship described in Subsection (1), or within one year following the termination of that relationship...." (Emphasis added).

The Utah Court of Appeals has noted the potential constitutional problems with Section 30-1-4.5. The court stated:

We do note, however, that [Section 30-1-4.5] might present a constitutional question in a different context. If a trial court were to enter a judgement denying a common-law marriage within one year of separation, and that judgement were reversed on appeal and the matter remanded, the parties might be denied a reasonable opportunity to comply with the plain meaning of the statute.

Bunch v. Englehorn, 906 P.2d 918, 921 n.3 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

As noted by the district court, the present case presents the very situation identified in Bunch (the decision is set forth in the Addendum to this brief). Record at 339.

The Bunch court recognized that the plain meaning of the statute is that the determination, not simply a filing, must be made within one year of the termination of the relationship. In Bunch, the Plaintiff proposed that she complied with the statute by filing her complaint within one year of the parties' separation. "That interpretation of the statute, however, is contrary to its plain meaning. Under the plain meaning of the statute, Bunch did not obtain a timely determination of her relationship with Englehorn." Bunch, at 920-21. It is within this context that the Court of Appeals noted the potential constitutional problems.

Should Mr. Hansen obtain a favorable result on appeal, the statute would effectively deprive Mr. Hansen of a remedy since the determination must be made within one year. It is possible

for him to prevail on appeal, reverse the trial court, and still lose the right to assert his claim.

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