1997

Michael Loy Hansen v. Laura T. Hansen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The legal error complained of by Appellant is of little or no relevance to the decision of the Trial Court. That decision is supported by substantial Findings of Fact, which are not being contested. No change in the standard of proof required would change the Court's ruling.

Nevertheless, Appellee believes that the Trial Court used the correct standard of proof in its decision making process.

The time provision of the statute on proving a common law marriage at issue; and it is not necessary to attack the constitutionality of the law to craft a remedy, should one be needed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UNDER ANY STANDARD OF PROOF, THE COURT'S RULING THAT THERE IS NO COMMON LAW MARRIAGE MUST BE SUSTAINED.

The Court below first reviewed the standard of proof which it decided was appropriate to determine the existence of a marriage under the controlling statute. Appellee will discuss the standard in Point II of this brief. Because Appellee believes the real issue is whether Plaintiff proved the necessary facts for the existence under any standard, that issue is discussed first.

The Court set out 5 distinct factors which must be proved to meet the requirements of § 30-1-4.5. Those factors were that the marriage must arise out of a contract between two consenting parties who:

- 1) are capable of giving consent;
 - 2) are legally capable of entering into a solemnized marriage under the provision of this chapter;
 - 3) have cohabited;
 - 4) mutually assume marital rights, duties, and obligations;
- and,
- 5) hold themselves out as and have acquired a uniform and general reputation as husband and wife. (R. 235-6).

The Court found that the first four of the five enumerated factors existed, by clear and convincing evidence. The Court

therefore concentrated its analysis on factor five and the underlying and fundamental question of "whether they consented to a common law contract" (R. 235). Appellant does not challenge the points on which the Court based its decision; nor does Appellant contest the Court's Findings of Fact. Those facts must therefore be deemed to be conclusively be deemed to be true. Since Appellant only challenges the standard of proof to which he was held, the Court's decision must be upheld if that same conclusion would have been reached using the standard of proof demanded by Appellant. It is established law that a legal error made by the court below which is deemed by this Court to have played no part in the decision will be insufficient to overturn the decision, if the decision is otherwise correct. This principle was set out by the Utah Supreme Court in Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corp., 862 P.2d 1342 (Utah 1993) when the Court held:

However, to reverse a trial verdict, this court must find not a mere possibility, but a reasonable likelihood that the error affected the result. 862 P.2d at 1347.

The failure of Appellant to challenge the Court's decisional basis or the facts on which it is based forces Appellant to attack the decision on very narrow grounds. Those grounds are simply not sufficient to overturn the Court's ruling, and therefore, the ruling must be affirmed.

The Trial Court found that Plaintiff did not carry his burden required by statute that the parties "acquire a uniform and general reputation as husband and wife". In reviewing the statement of witnesses on the point, the Court said:

These witnesses testify that they viewed the parties as a couple but never viewed the couple as married. In other words, in the home where the parties were residing they were not viewed by their most intimate friends as a married couple. Yet these were the friends of the parties, the ones who knew them best. If they did not view Mike and Laura as husband and wife, one well may wonder who did view them as husband and wife (R. 234).

The Court then reviewed the issue of consent. As to Defendant, the Court stated:

Not only does Mike fail to establish by clear and convincing evidence that the parties acquired a uniform and general reputation as husband and wife, he has failed to establish that each party consented to a common law marriage relationship.

In this case there is no single, clear fact demonstrating that Laura consented to a common law marital contract. In fact the evidence is to the contrary. On several occasions Mike asked Laura to marry him. Each time she refused. That she rejected his several proposals is evidence that she had not consented to a marital relationship.

While consent must be established, as noted by the Supreme Court in Whyte v. Blair, 885 P.2d 791, 791, n. 3 (Utah 1994), mutual consent can be shown by acquiescence. The facts establish that for her own financial benefit Laura affirmatively held herself out to the insurance company as Mike's wife. To void embarrassment she held herself out to the church representatives as Mike's wife. For a time she wore a ring on her marriage finger. For several months she allowed Mike to live in the home, enjoying a conjugal relationship and sharing family expenses. All of these demonstrate some measure of acquiescence by her in the existence of a marital relationship. On the other hand that

acquiescence is overcome by her own continued insistence that the parties not remarry. She knowingly chose not to accept Mike's marriage proposals. That evidence, which is clear and convincing, off-sets any alleged acquiescence in a marital relationship. Laura knew Mike wanted to remarry and repeatedly declined. Rather than evidencing consent, this evidence is just the opposite, an insistent lack of consent. (emphasis added). (R. 233).

The findings of the trial court, especially as to consent, deny the existence of a marriage, even under the lower standard of preponderance of the evidence. Reviewing the factual findings as the Court has done, one cannot suggest that a review on any other standard would bring a different result. The Trial Court has reviewed this matter carefully and completely; and there is insufficient evidence on which to base a reversal.

POINT II

THE COURT BELOW USED THE CORRECT STANDARD OF PROOF IN REVIEWING THE EXISTENCE OF A COMMON LAW MARRIAGE.

This is an action in which Plaintiff sought to establish a common law marriage. The parties had previously been married and divorced; but the parties continued to live together for periods of time thereafter. The attempt to establish a common law marriage was made in order to improve the settlement to Defendant as a result of the original decree. The Court first found that the establishment of a marriage in this manner should be by clear and convincing evidence; and the Court then found that the elements of

the common law marriage had not been so established. The Court filed a detailed written decision relying on substantial case law from other states. The Court also reviewed public policy of the State of Utah and found the higher standard of proof was appropriate. In doing so, the Court again cited Whyte v. Blair, in which the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Care must be given to guard against fraudulent marriage claims, especially where a declaration of marriage would reap financial rewards for an alleged spouse. (885 P.2d at 795.

The Trial Court used due care and found that the standard of proof had not been met. In support of that finding, the Court referred to fourteen other states which have used the clear and convincing standard of proof in cases to determine the existence of a common law marriage; and found only nine states which use the preponderance of evidence standard (R. 240-241). Appellant argues that the Trial Court was wrong in its counting of cases. Using a different methodology, Appellant argues that there are only fifteen states which currently recognize common law marriage, and that only five of those use the clear and convincing standard (Appellant's brief, p. 10-11). The numbers of states which fall into each category is open to interpretation and even manipulation. In finding fault with the Lower Court's count, however, Appellant seems to be ignoring the obvious. Many states have abolished common law marriage, apparently believing that the abuses of such

a doctrine outweigh any advantages. One might suggest that this puts a solid majority of other states in a third category; one in which NO evidence is sufficient to prove a common law marriage. This position supports the conclusion of the Trial Court that common law marriages should be declared only in cases where the evidence is clear and convincing; and that extra care is needed to avoid abuse.

Many of the decisions cited by both the Lower Court and Appellant are somewhat vague, in that public policy arguments are not fully discussed. One case of interest is one that Appellant cites for his contention. In that case, Metropolitan Life Insurance Company v. Johnson, 645 P.2d 356 (Idaho 1983), the Idaho Court admits that it is in the minority in using the preponderance standard:

We note that Idaho is among the dwindling minority of states which continue to recognize common law marriage. In 1952, twenty American jurisdictions could be listed as recognizing common law marriage. By 1960, the number was sixteen, and by 1974 the number had diminished fourteen.

The trend toward abolition of common law marriage indicates an obvious hostility to the doctrine. That hostility is not confined to those states which do not recognize common law marriages. The courts of many jurisdictions recognizing the doctrine also view it with disfavor.

Thus, to discourage common law marriage claims, many jurisdictions recognizing the doctrine impose stringent evidentiary burdens on the party seeking to establish a common law marriage. (Internal citations omitted) 645 P.2d at 359-360.

While Idaho law applies the preponderance standard, it also emphasizes the element of consent. In this case, the Trial Court specifically found a lack of consent; and that finding has not been challenged in this appeal. This Court should be very cautious in overruling the Lower Court and finding a marriage here. Clearly the parties were married at one time; and they have had a very stormy relationship since that time. It would be to Appellant's advantage materially to prove that a marriage continued after the divorce became final, as Appellant contends that the divorce settlement was not fair (R. 244). This is not the time or manner to contest such things, however. He had his opportunity to do so in the context of the divorce action, and chose not to do so. That decision is now binding on him. There is some evidence that Appellant wants to prove the existence of a continuing marriage simply to spite Appellee, as the Trial Court found a pattern of abusive behavior on the part of both parties; and noted that mutual protective orders have been entered to keep the parties apart (R. 243-4). Failing to guard the public interests which the Lower Court cited in determining its burden of proof would indeed result in an injustice in this instance.

POINT III

APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGE HAS NO MERIT; NOR IS IT RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES AT HAND.

Plaintiff also questions the legality of § 30-1-4.5 U.C.A. as being in conflict with certain portions of the Utah Constitution. Plaintiff argues that the portion of the law which requires proof within one year of the termination of the relationship is unconstitutional as it would not allow Defendant to establish the relationship he seeks even on a successful appeal, as that appeal would be too late. Defendant suggests that this Court is able to craft a remedy as it sees fit. Declaring the statute invalid would not give Plaintiff any remedy. The Court has ruled, based on the facts, that Plaintiff has not proved the existence of a marital relationship. The interpretation of the time provisions is not at issue. Plaintiff has quoted Bunch v. Englehorn, 906 P.2d 918 (Utah App. 1995) in support of his contention that the time provisions "might present a constitutional question in a different context". The Court chose not to review that question at the time, as it was not relevant to its decision. A constitutional ruling is also not relevant here to the decision of the Court. The legislature chose to recognize common law marriages under very strict rules. Defendant contends that the legislature has the power to set the rules for such a recognition, which has long been denied Utah residents under any circumstances. The fact that the legislature

set such strict recognition rules supports the Lower Court's ruling that a higher standard of proof must be used. This is not the type of situation that this court referred to in suggesting that a review of the constitutionality of the law might be appropriate under "different circumstances". Plaintiff has made his showing; and he did so within one year, as set forth in the statute. Because the underlying facts are not in dispute, no further showing after the one year period is necessary. This Court certainly has the power to determine that a legal error was made and to reverse the Lower Court and declare, on the basis of the facts proved, that such a marriage existed. There is no need for a remand or for a further hearing below, if the Trial Court made such a legal error. The act of this court in correcting the legal error would have the effect of declaring the marriage valid as of the time of trial. No constitutional attack on the law is necessary. Appellee, of course, has set forth what she believes to be a very strong case against taking any action. Nevertheless, for the sake of argument, this Court has many options to correct errors without declaring the underlying statute unconstitutional.


CONCLUSION

The Trial Court reviewed the issues concerning the existence of a common law marriage between the parties hereto according to

the appropriate standard. More importantly, however, the Court found facts in Appellee's favor which deny the possibility of such a marriage under any standard. Because the facts do not support a finding of such a marriage under any level of scrutiny, this Court cannot reverse the trial court on the issue.